FILED

JAN 28 2013

CAROL G. GREEN CLERK OF APPELLATE COURTS

No. 12-108615-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSAS
Plaintiff-Appellee

VS.

JAMES EDEN
Defendant-Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal from the District Court of Shawnee County, Kansas Honorable Mark Braun, Judge District Court Case No. 10 CR 2447

> Christina M. Kerls, #22234 Kansas Appellate Defender Office Jayhawk Tower 700 Jackson, Suite 900 Topeka, Kansas 66603 (785) 296-5484 Attorney for the Appellant

Nature of the Case

A jury convicted James Eden of one count of offender registration violation. (R. II, 111). The district court sentenced him to 36 months probation with an underlying 120 month prison term. (R. II, 112). Mr. Eden appeals his conviction and his sentence. (R. II, 109).

Statement of Issues

Issue I: Mr. Eden's conviction violates the Due Process Clause of the United States Constitution because the State of Kansas was estopped from prosecuting Mr. Eden for an offender registration violation when it was the actions of the State which made it impossible for Mr. Eden to

complete his registration during the time required.

Issue II: The district court violated Mr. Eden's fundamental right to a fair trial

when it refused to instruct the jury on the definition of "general intent" because Mr. Eden's intent was substantially at issue.

Issue III: The State failed to present sufficient evidence to sustain Mr. Eden's

offender registration violation conviction.

Issue IV: The district court violated Mr. Eden's Sixth and Fourteenth

Amendment rights when it used his prior convictions to increase his sentence without requiring them to be proved to a jury beyond a

reasonable doubt.

Statement of Facts

James Eden was required to register as an offender three times a year – during his birth month, which was November, then every four months. (R. X, 15). In November 2010, Mr. Eden lived in Shawnee County. (R. X, 50-51). Due to the high number of registered offenders in Shawnee County, an offender was required to make an appointment in order to register. (R. X, 31, 53).

In the middle of November of 2010, Mr. Eden called the Shawnee County

Sheriff's Department to make an appointment to complete his November registration. (R.

X, 54-55). Mr. Eden had until the end of November to register. (R. X, 53).

When Mr. Eden called the Shawnee County Sheriff's Department in the middle of November, no one answered his call. (R. X, 54). He left a message for Emily Adams, the officer in charge of registration, to call him back so that he could make an appointment to complete his November registration. (R. X, 54). Ms. Adams never returned his call. (R. X, 54).

Mr. Eden called the Shawnee County Sheriff's Department a few days later to once again try to make an appointment to complete his November registration. (R. X, 55). This time he was given an appointment to complete his required November registration on December 8, 2010. (R. X, 54-55).

On December 8, 2010, Mr. Eden showed up at the Shawnee County Sheriff's Department to complete his November registration requirement. (R. X, 56). However, because he arrived ten minutes late for his appointment, he was not allowed to register. He was turned away and told to make another appointment. (R. X, 56). Mr. Eden made another appointment to complete his November registration requirement for December 16, 2010. (R. X, 56). Mr. Eden completed his offender registration on December 16, 2010 – the first date that the Shawnee County Sheriff's Department would allow him to register. (R. X, 11).

In Shawnee County, Kansas, there are roughly 800 registered offenders. (R. X, 15). Despite this high number of registered offenders, the Shawnee County Sheriff's Department only had one deputy that was in charge of handling the registrations and investigations. (R. X, 15). Because of this workload, the Topeka Police Department and the Shawnee County Sheriff's Department entered into a collaborative agreement to have

one investigator assigned to assist the sheriff's department in the criminal investigations of offender registration violations. (R. X, 15). In November and December of 2010, that investigator was Detective Bryan Wheeles from the Topeka Police Department. (R. X, 14-16).

On December 2, 2010, Detective Wheeles received notification from the Shawnee Couny Sheriff's Department that James Eden had not come in during November for his mandatory birthday month registration. (R. X, 16). Detective Wheeles testified that during his investigation he learned that the Shawnee County Sheriff's Department had given Mr. Eden an appointment on December 8, 2010, to register. (R. X, 19). Detective Wheeles testified that Mr. Eden was late to the December 8, 2010 appointment and was not allowed to register, but was given another appointment for later in December. (R. X, 20-21, 56).

Detective Wheeles made contact with Mr. Eden on December 15, 2010. Mr. Eden told Detective Wheeles that he had, in fact, showed up to register on December 8, 2010, but because he was ten minutes late to his appointment, the Shawnee County Sheriff's Department would not allow him to register. (R. X, 20-21; XI, State's Exhibit 1). Mr. Eden told Detective Wheeles that he immediately made another appointment to register for December 16, 2010. (R. XI, State's Exhibit 2). Despite having this information, Detective Wheeles arrested Mr. Eden on December 15, 2010. (R. X, 21). Mr. Eden was charged with an offender registration violation. (R. I, 11).

During trial, the evidence above was uncontested. Mr. Eden's theory of defense was that there was no intent to register late. As such, Mr. Eden requested that the jury be instructed on the definition of "general intent". (R. I, 59; X, 77). The district court refused

to give the requested instruction. (R. X, 83). The jury convicted Mr. Eden of offender registration violation. (R. X, 111). The district court granted Mr. Eden's motion for a downward dispositional departure and sentenced him, under criminal history "B", to 36 months probation with an underlying 120 month prison term. (R. X, 112). Mr. Eden appealed. (R. X, 109).

Arguments and Authorities

Issue I:

Mr. Eden's conviction violates the Due Process Clause of the United States Constitution because the State of Kansas was estopped from prosecuting Mr. Eden for an offender registration violation when it was the actions of the State which made it impossible for Mr. Eden to complete his registration during the time required.

Introduction

Mr. Eden tried to comply with the offender registration law when he called to make an appointment to register in the middle of November. (R. X, 54). After never receiving a return phone call to schedule the appointment, Mr. Eden once again tried to comply with the law by calling a few days later. (R. X, 54-55). Mr. Eden tried to comply with the law when he arrived at the Shawnee County Sheriff's Department to register on December 8, 2010, the Shawnee County Sheriff's Department would not let him register. (R. X, 54). Mr. Eden again tried to comply with the law when he scheduled another appointment to register on December 16, 2010. (R. X, 54). Mr. Eden tried to comply with the law and he complete his offender registration on December 16, 2010. (R. X, 11). The only thing that prevented Mr. Eden from completing his registration prior to the expiration of his time to register was the actions of the State, through the Shawnee County Sheriff's Department. As such, the State was prevented from prosecuting Mr. Eden for the offender registration violation under the doctrine of Entrapment by Estoppel.

Mr. Eden's conviction of an offender registration violation violated the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution and must be vacated.

Standard of Review

The question of whether a due process right has been violated is a question of law. State v. Holt, 285 Kan. 760, 774, 175 P.3d 239 (2008). This Court has unlimited review. Holt, 285 Kan. at 774.

This issue is reviewable even though it is raised for the first time on appeal.

While Mr. Eden's defense at trial very clearly relied on the fact that the Shawnee County Sheriff's Department prevented Mr. Eden from registering during the month of November, 2010, and Mr. Eden relied on the Shawnee County Sheriff's Department assertions and policies when taking the actions that he did, the exact Due Process violation alleged here was never raised in the district court. (R. X, 77). As a general rule, constitutional issues cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. *State v. Gomez*, 290 Kan. 858, 862, 235 P.3d 1203 (2010). However, there are three exceptions to this general rule:

- (1) The newly asserted claim involves only a question of law arising on proved or admitted facts and is determinative of the case;
- (2) consideration of the claim is necessary to serve the ends of justice or to prevent the denial of fundamental rights; and
- (3) the district court is right for the wrong reason.

Gomez, 290 Kan. at 862. This issue is reviewable under the first two exceptions.

i. The newly asserted claim involves only a question of law arising on proved or admitted facts and is determinative of the case

Whether Mr. Eden's due process rights were violated is a question of law. *Holt*, 285 Kan. at 774. If this Court were to find that Mr. Eden's due process rights were

violated by the prosecution and subsequent conviction of Mr. Eden, this claim would be determinative of the case. Finally, the facts of this case are uncontested. The State itself presented evidence at trial that Mr. Eden called the Shawnee County Sheriff's Department in the middle of November to make an appointment to register. (R. XI, State's Exhibit 1). Mr. Eden left a message for Emily Adams to return his call so that he could make an appointment to register. (R. XI, State's Exhibit 1). When Ms. Adams did not return his call, Mr. Eden called the Shawnee County Sheriff's Department again, and the Shawnee County Sheriff's Department schedule his appointment to register on December 8, 2010 – eight days after the expiration of his required month to complete his registration. (R. XI, State's Exhibit 1).

The State presented evidence, through the recorded interview of Mr. Eden, that when he arrived at the Shawnee County Sheriff's Department to register on December 8, 2010, he was not allowed to register because he was a few minutes late. (R. XI, State's Exhibit 1). At the end of the recorded interview, Detective Wheeles told Mr. Eden that he would check on his claim that he showed up to register on December 8, 2010. (R. XI, State's Exhibit 1). At trial, Detective Wheeles could not contest Mr. Eden's assertion that he went to the Shawnee County Sheriff's Department on December 8, 2010, to register but was not permitted to do so because he was a few minutes late. (R. X, 28-29). The State did not contest that Mr. Eden made another appointment to register after he was not allowed to register on December 8, 2010. (R. X, 28-29). The State did not contest that Mr. Eden did, in fact, complete his offender registration on the first occasion that the Shawnee County Sheriff's Department allowed him to – on December 16, 2010. (R. X, 11). Finally, the State, itself, presented evidence that Mr. Eden was not simply permitted

to walk into the Shawnee County Sheriff's Department at any time during his registration month and complete his required registration; he had to have an appointment. (R. X, 31).

Because (1) the facts of this case are undisputed, (2) the claim involves a question of law, and (3) the claim would be determinative of the case, the first exception applies.

Gomez, 290 Kan. at 862. This Court can review this issue for the first time on appeal.

ii. Consideration of the claim is necessary to prevent the denial of fundamental rights.

Additionally, this issue is reviewable for the first time on appeal to prevent the denial of a fundamental right. As explained below, this issue involves a claim that Mr. Eden's prosecution and subsequent conviction violated the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution because Mr. Eden relied on the State's implicit misrepresentations that he could register after November 30, 2010, and still be in compliance with the law. Because Mr. Eden's due process rights are implicated, review of this issue is necessary to prevent the denial of Mr. Eden's fundamental right to due process of law. See State v. Foster, 290 Kan. 696, 702 233 P.3d 265 (2010) (Foster's due process concerns warrant review, though raised for the first time on appeal); State v. Shopteese, 283 Kan. 331, 339, 153 P.3d 1208 (2007) (though not raised below, the competency issue merited addressing because a court's acceptance of a plea by an incompetent defendant implicates due process); Denning v. Johnson County, Sheriff's Civil Service Board, 46 Kan. App. 2d 688, 707, 266 P.3d 551 (2011) (because Mr. Mauer's argument implicated due process rights, the issue may be addressed for the first time on appeal); State v. Black, 45 Kan. App. 2d 168, 175-76, 244 P.3d 1274 (2011) (Because Mr. Wurtz' vagueness argument concerns his due process rights, the court can decide the issue for the first time on appeal to prevent the denial of fundamental rights).

Finally, the United States Supreme Court has reversed convictions on the grounds raised here even when the issue was not raised either in the district court or in the appellant's brief. In *Cox v. State of Louisianna*, 379 U.S. 559, 568-69, 13 L. Ed. 2d 487, 85 S. Ct. 476 (1965), a United States Supreme Court case address this issue raised here, the due process issue was not raised in the district court or in the appellant's brief. Rather the issue was recognized and raised by the Supreme Court. *Cox*, 379 U.S. at 568-69. Such procedure by the United States Supreme Court supports the assertion review of this issue for the first time on appeal is necessary to prevent the denial of Mr. Eden's fundamental right to due process of law.

Analysis

A. Mr. Eden's conviction of an offender registration violation violates the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution because a defendant may not be convicted based upon taking an action that the State leads him to believe complies with the law.

The United States Supreme Court has recognized that prosecution of a defendant who acts in reliance on statements from the State that his conduct is not illegal violates the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution. *Raley v. State of Ohio*, 360 U.S. 423, 425, 3 L. Ed. 2d 1344, 79 S. Ct. 1257 (1959). In *Raley*, the defendants were charged and convicted of refusing to answer certain questions put to them at sessions of the "Un-American Activities Commission" of the State of Ohio. *Raley*, 360 U.S. at 424. During the hearings, the chairman of the commission had told each of the defendants, either explicitly, or implicitly, that they could invoke their Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination. *Raley*, 360 U.S. at 426-431.

However, the State of Ohio had a statute that granted immunity to any person appearing before a legislative committee from prosecution "on account of a transaction,

matter, or thing, concerning which he testifies." *Raley*, 360 U.S. at 431. Based on the existence of this immunity statute, the self-incrimination privilege was not available to the defendant's because their answers could not have incriminated them as they would not have subjected them to prosecution. *Raley*, 360 U.S. at 432. As a result, the defendants were convicted of failing to answer questions at a congressional hearing. *Raley*, 360 U.S. at 432-33.

The United States Supreme Court reversed the convictions of three of the defendants. *Raley*, 360 U.S. at 437. In so reversing, the Supreme Court stated:

[H]ere the Chairman of the Commission, who clearly appeared to be the agent of the State in a position to give such assurances, apprised three of the appellants that the privilege [against self-incrimination] in fact existed, and by his behavior toward the fourth obviously gave the same impression. Other members of the Commission and its counsel made statements which were totally inconsistent with any belief in the applicability of the immunity statute, and it is fair to characterize the whole conduct of the inquiry as to the four as identical with what it would have been if Ohio had had no immunity statute at all... While there is no suggestion that the Commission had any intent to deceive the appellants, we repeat that to sustain the judgment of the Ohio Supreme Court on such basis after the Comission had acted as it did would be to sanction the most indefensible sort of entrapment by the State — convicting a citizen for exercising a privilege which the State clearly had told him was available to him.

Raley, 360 U.S. at 437-38. The Court went on to hold that the Due Process Clause does not permit convictions to be obtained under such circumstances. *Raley*, 360 U.S. at 439.

The United States Supreme Court reiterated this holding in *Cox v. State of Louisiana*, 379 U.S. 559, 13 L. Ed. 2d 487, 85 S. Ct. 476 (1965). In *Cox*, a group of African American protestors were told that the were allowed to protest across the street from the courthouse. *Cox*, 379 U.S. at 569-70. However, the defendant was arrested and convicted of protesting too near a courthouse. *Cox*, 379 U.S. at 560. The Supreme Court reversed the defendant's conviction on the ground he was given an assurance by the State, through a police officer, that it was not a violation of the law to protest across the

street from the courthouse. To later convict Mr. Cox for protesting where he was told he could "would be to sanction an indefensible sort of entrapment by the State – convicting a citizen for exercising a privilege which the State had clearly told him was available to him. *Cox*, 379 U.S. at 571 *quoting Raley*, 360 U.S. at 426. The Supreme Court once again held that the Due Process Clause does not permit convictions to be obtained under such circumstances. *Cox*, 379 U.S. at 571.

There is no Kansas case law regarding the doctrine of entrapment by estoppel outlined in *Raley* and *Cox*. This is an issue of first impression in Kansas. This case is directly comparable to Raley and Cox. In the present case, Mr. Eden was convicted of an offender registration violation for failing to register before December 1, 2010. (R. I, 11; II, 88). However, the uncontroverted evidence in this case established (1) that Mr. Eden had to have an appointment to register, and (2) his appointment, which he made in November of 2010, was scheduled for December 8, 2010 – 8 days after the expiration of his required time to register. (R. X, 19, 31, 53, 54-55). The State, through the Shawnee County Sheriff's Department, implicitly told Mr. Eden that it was okay for him to complete his registration after November 30, 2010, when it scheduled his appointment to register on December 8, 2010. Mr. Eden relied on that assertion by the State. To prosecute and convict him for failing to register prior to December 1, 2010, when the State scheduled his appointment to register on December 8, 2010, "would be to sanction an indefensible sort of entrapment by the State – convicting a citizen for exercising a privilege which the State had clearly told him was available to him. See Cox, 379 U.S. at 571; Raley, 360 U.S. at 426. Mr. Eden's conviction violates the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution.

The State may attempt to argue that Mr. Eden's conviction does not violate due process because Mr. Eden did not actually register on December 8, 2010. However, this

argument would ignore the fact that the only reason Mr. Eden did not complete his registration on December 8, 2010, was because the State of Kansas would not let him. (R. X, 20-21, 28-29, 54-56; XI, State's Exhibit 1). Mr. Eden was a few minutes late for his appointment and the State of Kansas, through the Shawnee County Sheriff's Department, would not allow him to register. (R. X, 54-56; XI, State's Exhibit 1). Mr. Eden immediately made another appointment to register, as he could not register without an appointment. (R. X, 31, 53, 54-56). The date for the second appointment he was given was December 16, 2010. (R. X, 54). Mr. Eden registered on December 16, 2010 – the first day that the State of Kansas would allow him to do so. (R. X, 11).

The fact that Mr. Eden did not complete his registration on December 8, 2010, does not defeat his claim that his conviction violates due process. The State of Kansas prevented Mr. Eden from complying with the law on December 8, 2010. It stands to reason that if a defendant's conviction resulting from relying on the misleading advise of the State cannot stand as it violates due process, a conviction that is based on the State actively preventing a defendant from complying with the law also cannot stand as it violates due process. *See Cox*, 379 U.S. at 571; *Raley*, 360 U.S. at 426.

B. The Shawnee County Sheriff Department's operating procedures prevented Mr. Eden from timely completing his offender registration with resulted in his conviction and denied him fundamental fairness as required by the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

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