FILED

JUN - 3 2013

No. 12-108615-A

CAROL G. GREEN CLERK OF APPELLATE COURTS

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSAS Plaintiff-Appellee

V.

JAMES EDEN Defendant-Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF SHAWNEE COUNTY, KANSAS HONORABLE MARK BRAUN, JUDGE DISTRICT COURT CASE NO. 10-CR-2447

Approved

JUN 0 3 2013

Attorney General of Kansas BY S. Ct. Rule 6.10 Chadwick J. Taylor, #19591 District Attorney Third Judicial District Shawnee County Courthouse 200 S.E. 7th Street, Suite 214 Topeka, Kansas 66603 (785) 251-4330 (785) 291-4909 FAX sncoda@snco.us

Attorney for Plaintiff- Appellant

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

In addition to the entrapment by estoppel claim based on the Due Process Clause, Eden attempts to bootstrap an argument based on fundamental fairness without demonstrating why it is reviewable for the first time on appeal. *See State v. Gomez*, 290 Kan. 858, 862, 235 P.3d 1203 (2010) (providing three exceptions to general rule that

issues cannot be raised for the first time on appeal). Most of the arguments raised in support of reviewing the entrapment by estoppel issue for the first time on appeal entailed reliance by Eden, not fairness of the operating procedures which prevented Eden from timely completing his offender registration. Therefore, Eden's failure to brief an exception has waived this issue. *See State v. Berriozabal*, 291 Kan. 568, Syl. ¶ 1, 243 P.3d 352 (2010) (if appellant fails to brief an issue, the issue is waived or abandoned).

Even if this argument is reviewable, Eden cites no authority in support of his contention that his conviction cannot stand because the Sheriff Office's operating procedures denied Eden fundamental fairness as required by the Due Process Clause. Eden cites no cases that reflect this argument having any merit or any authority that shows that this argument can result in a court order vacating a defendant's conviction. Consequently, Eden's argument fails because an argument not supported with pertinent authority is deemed waived and abandoned. 291 Kan. at 594. Eden needs to do more than simply raise this issue incidentally in his appellate brief. 291 Kan. at 594.

Moreover, Eden's argument is weakened by his own actions. Historically, the law tends to be apathetic towards individuals who are the authors of their own predicaments. *See generally Boddington v. Kansas City*, 95 Kan. 189, 189, 148 P. 252 (1915) (the law does not afford one redress against another for damages he has brought upon himself); *see also State v. O'Neil*, 51 Kan. 651, Syl. ¶ 4, 24 L.R.A. 555 (1893) (voluntary intoxication is no justification or excuse for crime). "Under a due process analysis, it is a basic principle that a criminal statute must give fair warning that it is criminalizing certain conduct." *State v. Cook*, 286 Kan. 766, 775, 187 P.3d 1283 (2008). In *Cook*, the Court determined the defendant had fair warning that he was engaging in

illegal conduct after the pertinent statute was amended, which meant the principles underlying the Ex Post Facto Clause did not apply to protect his failure to register after the amendments became effective. 286 Kan. at 776.

Here, Eden invited his own predicament by procrastinating and not contacting the Sheriff's Office in a timely manner. By way of his own testimony, he admitted that he was responsible for going to the Sheriff's Office to register and that he was responsible for remaining in compliance with the KORA. (R. X, 60.) Further, he has been registering since 2007. (R. X, 52.) Therefore, he was aware of the registration procedures used by the Sheriff's Office, which required in-person registration. (R. X, 52.) Nevertheless, Eden procrastinated and waited until the middle of November, 2010 to contact the Sheriff's Office. (R. X, 54-55.) He was not able to reach the person who could schedule his appointment. But, instead of remaining persistent until he was able to speak to someone who could schedule his appointment, he waited a "few days" or "a week" before he attempted to call again. (R. X, 55.) As a practical matter, he waited until approximately three-fourths of the month of November was over before he scheduled his appointment. This is not a case in which the registration procedures were changed without notice to Eden or was Eden's first time registering under the KORA. Eden was very much aware of the procedures and of his responsibility to register.

Consequently, Eden's argument fails. His conviction was not the result of unfair registration procedures, but rather the consequence of his own procrastination and lack of judgment.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON THE DEFINITION OF "GENERAL INTENT" BECAUSE EDEN'S INTENT WAS NOT SUBSTANTIALLY AT ISSUE.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Recently, the Kansas Supreme Court in *State v. Plummer*, 295 Kan. 156, 163, 283 P.3d 202 (2012), reiterated the progression of analysis and corresponding standards of review on appeal for instruction issues:

"(1) First, the appellate court should consider the reviewability of the issue from both jurisdiction and preservation viewpoints, exercising an unlimited standard of review; (2) next, the court should use an unlimited review to determine whether the instruction was legally appropriate; (3) then, the court should determine whether there was sufficient evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to the defendant or the requesting party, that would have supported the instruction; and (4) finally, if the district court erred, the appellate court must determine whether the error was harmless, utilizing the test and degree of certainty set forth in *Ward*."

295 Kan. at 163.

A. The State concedes the present issue was preserved for review on appeal.

Presumably, Eden preserved this issue by submitting his proposed instructions to the Court and subsequently arguing for the submission of the instruction at issue in this appeal. (R. I, 49.) *See State v. Moore*, 230 Kan. 495, 498, 639 P.2d 458 (1982); *see also State v. Gonzales*, No. 90,768, unpublished opinion filed Sept. 17, 2004, *rev denied*, Jan. 20, 2005.

B. Instruction PIK.CRIM.3d 54.01-A was not legally appropriate because of the evidence before the district court.

The Kansas Supreme Court in *State v. Plunkett*, 261 Kan. 1024, 934 P.2d 113 (1997) held the general criminal intent instruction, PIK Crim.3d 54.01-A, "should be

used only where the crime requires a general criminal intent and the state of mind of the defendant is a substantial issue in the case." 261 Kan. at Syl. ¶ 4. The general criminal intent is an essential element of every crime. K.S.A. § 21-5202(a). It may be established by proof that the conduct of the accused was intentional. *State v. Cummings*, 45 Kan.App.2d 15, 18 (2010); K.S.A. § 21-5201. "Intentional conduct is defined as conduct that is purposeful and willful and not accidental." *In re C.P.W.*, 289 Kan. 448, 454, 213 P.3d 413 (2009). In effect,

"[t]o prove general intent, it is not necessary for the State to prove that the defendant intended the precise harm or the result that occurred. Further, the State is not obligated to prove an intent to violate a particular statute but rather the intent to do the criminal act which violated the statute. In other words, all that is required is proof that the person acted intentionally in the sense that he was aware of what he was doing."

289 Kan. at 454 (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

Failure to comply with the requirements of the KORA as defined in K.S.A. § 22-4903 is a general intent crime. 289 Kan. at Syl. ¶ 6. "Specific intent does not have to be proven." 289 Kan. at ¶ 6. Consequently, the State concedes the crime in this case required general criminal intent. Ultimately, however, the district court did not err in not providing the jury with PIK Crim.3d 54.01-A because Eden's state of mind was not a substantial issue in this case.

In *State v. Plunkett*, 261 Kan. 1024, 1031, 934 P.2d 113 (1997), the Court addressed a similar issue. The crime in *Plunkett* was rape, which was also a general criminal intent crime. 261 Kan. at 1031. The defendant's theory of defense was that the victim consented. 261 Kan. at 1032. The Court concluded that under the defendant's own theory, he appeared to concede that his sexual conduct was "willful and purposeful and, thus, intentional." 261 Kan. at 1032. Consequently, the defendant's state of mind

was not a substantial issue in that case. 261 Kan. at 1032. Although the remaining elements of the crime of rape concerned the state of mind of the victim, whether the defendant thought his victim consented or was not fearful was irrelevant if the State proved that she did not consent and was overcome by fear. 261 Kan. 1032.

By the same token, it is irrelevant in this case Eden's reasons for his failure to register within the statutory period. In order for Eden's state of mind to be a substantial issue in this case, the evidence presented should have casted doubt on whether Eden acted intentionally "in the sense that he was aware of what he was doing." *In re C.P.W.*, 289 Kan. at 454. Here, sufficient evidence existed of Eden's voluntary actions which constituted the crime charged. First, based on the testimony admitted at trial, his actions showed that he was aware of what he was doing. Second, even Eden's own arguments pertaining to the first issue on appeal support the conclusion that Eden's actions were voluntary, which dispel any notion that his state of mind was an issue, let alone a substantial issue, for determination at trial in this case.

At trial, Detective Wheeles testified that Eden confirmed, during his interview, that he missed his mandatory registration month in November 2010. (R. X, 20.) "[Eden] had called in and left a voice mail message saying that he didn't have the \$20 registration fee and that's why he hadn't come in." (R. X, 20.) Eden also acknowledged that he was not in compliance and had not registered. (R. X, 21.) Eden actually confirmed that he had read and signed numerous copies of the registered offender restrictions, indicated he was aware of the restrictions, and admitted he missed the mandatory birthday month in November. (R. X, 21.)

Also, it is clear from the record that Eden's first appointment was on December 8,

2010. (R. X, 20, 55.) This means Eden was aware he was not going to be able to register in November 2010. No evidence was presented suggesting he was unaware of his actions; specifically, that he was not registering during the month of November 2010 or that his act of failing to register was accidental. Even though he was argumentative, Eden testified that he did not register in person in November 2010. (R. X, 61.) He was very much aware that he needed to register sometime between the first and the thirtieth of November 2010, and that it would take 15 to 20 minutes. (R. X, 60, 61).

Furthermore, as part of his first issue on appeal, Eden argued that he allegedly relied on the State's assertion that he could register beyond the statutory period.

(Appellant Br. 12). In view of this contention, it follows that Eden was aware he was not registering in November 2010. He made a conscious act, not accidental, to not register within the statutory period. Arguments regarding the reasonableness of his reliance or whether his reliance on the alleged contentions made by the State has any relief are not relevant on the present issue. The ultimate question is whether his act was voluntary in the sense that he was aware of what he was doing.

Noteworthy, moreover, is Eden's failure to provide enough support for a finding that the instruction at issue was legally appropriate. Eden does not cite to the record for support. *See* Kan. Sup. Ct. R. 6.02(a)(4) (the Court may presume that a factual statement made without a reference to volume and page number has no support in the record on appeal); *see also State v. Holman*, 295 Kan. 116, 139, 284 P.3d 251 (2012) (a point raised incidentally in a brief and not argued there is deemed abandoned). Eden's two conclusory sentences in support of the point raised regarding the instruction's legal appropriateness are wanting.

Consequently, Eden's arguments in support of his contention that the instruction was legally appropriate fail due to Eden's failure to provide enough support on this point and because Eden's state of mind was not a substantial issue in the case; he was aware of what he was doing, which means his acts were not accidental.

C. Even if the evidence submitted to the district court is viewed in the light most favorable to Eden, the amount of evidence was not sufficient to warrant instruction PIK.CRIM.3d 54.01-A.

On appeal, "[w]hen considering the refusal of the trial court to give a specific instruction, the evidence must be viewed by the appellate court in the light most favorable to the party requesting the instruction." *State v. Cummings*, 45 Kan. App. 2d 15, 20, 243 P.3d 697 (2010). However, "deference is given to the factual findings made [by the trial court], in the sense that the appellate court generally will not reweigh the evidence or the credibility of witnesses." *Plummer*, 295 Kan. at 207-08 (citing *State v. Hall*, 292 Kan. 841, 859, 257 P.3d 272 (2011)).

The evidence in this case did not show Eden's failure to register as an involuntary act or accident, but rather it demonstrated that Eden's actions were done voluntarily and that he was aware of what he was doing. At no point during trial did Eden allege that his failure to register was accidental.

According to Detective Wheeles, Eden did not register in November 2010. (R. X, 18.) During the interview with Eden, Detective Wheeles testified that Eden confirmed he missed his mandatory registration month. (R. X, 20, 21.) He was aware he had failed to register. Detective Wheeles also indicated that Eden had left a voice mail message saying that he did not have the \$20 registration fee, which was the reason he had not registered. (R. X, 20.) This tends to show that Eden may not have intended to register

because he did not have the money necessary to register. Eden also told the detective that he had scheduled an appointment for December 8, 2010. (R. X, 20.) Clearly, if Eden attended his appointment, then he did not intend to register in November 2010. This is supported by Eden's confession to the detective that he went to register on December 8, 2010, but missed his appointment because he was late. (R. X, 20-21.) Ultimately, Detective Wheeles testified during the State's case-in-chief and concluded by stating that it was his understanding Eden did not attempt to register in November 2010. (R. X, 21.)

Although the detective did not know whether Eden tried to call the Sheriff's Office in November 2010, Eden testified that he did call. (R. X, 54-55.) However, this is inconsequential on the issue of intent; specifically, whether Eden's failure to register was voluntary because he was aware of what he was doing. Ultimately, even though Eden argued he tried to register, he did admit during cross-examination that he did not register in person in November 2010. (R. X, 61.) It is also noteworthy in this respect that he also admitted that he was aware he was required to register in person. (R. X, 68.) It is obvious, therefore, that he knew he had to register in person.

Consequently, in order for Eden's intent to be substantially at issue, evidence must exist showing that his failure to register was accidental. Whether Eden called the Sheriff's Office in November 2010 is irrelevant; the law required him to register in person and he testified he was aware of this requirement. It is clear that Eden's intent was to not register in November 2010 because he was told to register in December 2010.

D. The district court's failure to submit PIK.CRIM.3d 54.01-A to the jury was a harmless error because the State can prove beyond a reasonable doubt that this error did not affect the outcome of the trial.

Even if the instruction was legally appropriate and supported by sufficient evidence, the district court's error was harmless under the facts and circumstances of the instant case. The Kansas Supreme Court in *Plummer* explained this last part of the analysis in the following manner:

"[b]efore a Kansas court can declare an error harmless it must determine the error did not affect a party's substantial rights, meaning it will not or did not affect the trial's outcome. The degree of certainty by which the court must be persuaded that the error did not affect the outcome of the trial will vary depending on whether the error implicates a right guaranteed by the United States Constitution. If it does, a Kansas court must be persuaded beyond a reasonable doubt that there was no impact on the trial's outcome, *i.e.*, there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the verdict. If a right guaranteed by the United States Constitution is not implicated, a Kansas court must be persuaded that there is no reasonable probability that the error will or did affect the outcome of the trial."

Plummer, 295 Kan. at 162-63 (citing State v. Ward, 292 Kan. 541, 565, 256 P.3d 801 (2011)). In the case at bar, the State challenges Eden's position on a procedural ground and further maintains the error was harmless even though the error at issue, arguably, implicated a right guaranteed by the United States Constitution.

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